Appeal No. 23-CF-828



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS Received 06/10/2024 05:40 PM

ANDRE M	IILLER,
	Appellant,
	v.
UNITED S	TATES OF AMERICA,
	Appellee.
	Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Criminal Division
	BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

SAMIA FAM

ALICE WANG

*VICTORIA HALL-PALERM

PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE 633 3rd Street, NW Washington, DC 20001 Telephone: (202) 628-1200

*Counsel for Oral Argument

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether the trial court erred in ruling that the "plain view" doctrine justified the warrantless seizure of a handgun magazine from Mr. Miller's car, where the government presented no evidence that the magazine's illegal capacity was "immediately apparent" to the officer who saw it.
- II. Whether the government presented insufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Miller knew the magazine in his car could hold more than 10 rounds of ammunition, where the prosecution introduced no evidence that the magazine's capacity was obvious from its appearance, or that Mr. Miller ever used, loaded, inspected, or even touched the magazine.
- III. Whether the trial court plainly erred in failing to instruct the jury that, in order to convict Mr. Miller of possessing a large capacity ammunition feeding device, it was required to find beyond a reasonable doubt that he knew the magazine in his car could hold more than 10 rounds of ammunition.
- IV. Whether Mr. Miller's conviction for possessing a 17-round magazine violates the Second Amendment, where magazines capable of holding more than 10 rounds of ammunition are "instruments that facilitate armed self-defense" and are "in common use today."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

On February 23, 2023, a grand jury returned a six-count indictment charging Mr. Miller with one count of unlawfully possessing a firearm having been convicted of a felony (D.C. Code § 22-4503(a)(1), (b)(1)); one count of carrying a pistol without a license (D.C. Code § 22-4504(a)(2)); two counts of possessing a large capacity ammunition feeding device ("PLCFD") (D.C. Code § 7-2506.01(b)); one count of possessing an unregistered firearm (D.C. Code § 7-2502.01(a)); and one count of unlawfully possessing ammunition ("UA") (D.C. Code § 7-2506.01(a)(3)). R. 34. One of the PLCFD charges (Count 4) and the UA charge (Count 6) related to a loaded magazine found in Mr. Miller's car, while the remaining four charges related to a gun and extended magazine found underneath a red SUV parked across the street. R. 92.

The Honorable Jason Park presided over a jury trial that began on July 17, 2023. On July 19, 2023, the defense moved for a judgment of acquittal on all counts, which the court denied. 7/19/23 at 95. The jury returned a verdict on July 21, 2023, acquitting Mr. Miller of all four counts related to the gun and extended magazine found underneath the red SUV, and convicting of him of the two counts related to the magazine found in his car. R. 92. On September 29, 2023, Judge Park sentenced Mr. Miller to 24 months of incarceration for PLCFD and one year of incarceration for UA, to run concurrently, followed by three years of supervised release. R. 105.

¹ All citations to "R. *" refer to the number assigned to a particular trial court filing by the Appeals Coordinator in compiling the record on appeal. All citations to "**/**/** at **" designate a particular month, day, year, and page from the transcripts generated during the trial court proceedings.

Mr. Miller timely filed his notice of appeal on October 3, 2023. R. 106. This Court has jurisdiction under D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Overview

On the night of October 28, 2022, Andre Miller lost control of his car and crashed into a parked car belonging to Los Stroud. After being confronted by Los and his father Charles, Mr. Miller fled the scene, dropping a zipped backpack near a red SUV parked across the street. Police later found a gun with a 40-round extended magazine hidden underneath the red SUV. Although Charles Stroud claimed to have seen Mr. Miller holding a gun in his car, and although forensic DNA analysis indicated that Mr. Miller was likely one of three contributors to the DNA mixture found on the gun, the jury acquitted Mr. Miller of all charges related to possessing the gun and the 40-round extended magazine.

Police also found a separate 17-round magazine wedged between the driver's seat and door frame of Mr. Miller's car. In contrast to the evidence of Mr. Miller's actual possession of the gun with the extended magazine (which the jury apparently rejected), the government presented no evidence that Mr. Miller ever physically handled the 17-round magazine found in the car. No witness claimed to have seen him with a magazine, and no forensic evidence tied Mr. Miller to the magazine or the ammunition inside it. Indeed, in urging the jury to convict on the PLCFD and UA charges for the 17-round magazine, the government expressly disavowed any theory of actual possession: "We don't know whether Mr. Miller had that magazine in his hand at any point, whether he had it in his pocket, whether he was carrying it

on his person. But we do know it was found in his car, next to the driver's seat where he was sitting, and in a place where he . . . showed the intent and the ability to exercise control. He was in constructive possession of that magazine." 7/20/23 at 12 (government's closing argument). Likewise, the government presented no evidence or argument that Mr. Miller actually knew the magazine was capable of holding more than 10 rounds of ammunition. In contrast to the testimony about the distinctively large size of the 40-round extended magazine, which protruded beyond the grip of the gun found underneath the red SUV, no witness testified that the 17-round magazine found in Mr. Miller's car was unusually large or that its capacity would have been obvious to anyone sitting in the driver's seat. Nor was the jury even instructed that knowledge of the magazine's capacity to hold more than 10 rounds of ammunition was an essential element of PLCFD.

After sending two deadlock notes and deliberating for eight hours—as long as the testimony and argument took—the jury convicted Mr. Miller on only the two counts related to the 17-round magazine found inside his car (PLCFD and UA).

The Suppression Hearing

Prior to trial, Mr. Miller moved to suppress the 17-round magazine,² arguing that it was the fruit of an illegal search of his car. R. 21 at 4. In its opposition to the suppression motion, the government argued that the warrantless search of the car and seizure of the magazine were justified under the "plain view" exception to the

² Mr. Miller also moved to suppress the gun and 40-round magazine as the fruits of his illegal seizure, R. 21 at 2–4, but because he was ultimately acquitted on all counts related to those items, the following discussion of the suppression hearing is limited to the 17-round magazine.

warrant requirement. R. 29 at 8–9 ("Under the plain view exception, if police officers are lawfully in a position from which they view an object, its incriminating character is immediately apparent, and the officers have a right of access to the object, they may seize it without a warrant.").

Officer Ethan Way testified at the suppression hearing that, after the police responded to the scene of the car crash, Officer Michael Strong conducted "a plainview search of the defendant's vehicle," which "revealed a magazine in the doorway." 5/11/23 at 36–37. Because Officer Way did not personally observe the search, *id.* at 37, and indeed was "about a block away" when Officer Strong said he saw a magazine inside the car, *id.* at 95, Officer Way's testimony about the "plainview search" was based solely on his review of video footage from Officer Strong's body-worn camera ("BWC"), *id.* at 37, a brief clip of which was introduced at the suppression hearing as Government Exhibit 12, *id.* at 132; *see* App'x A.³

Based on his review of the BWC footage, Officer Way testified that, while standing "next to the driver's side door" of Mr. Miller's car, Officer Strong "shine[d] his flashlight through the window" and "saw [a] magazine inside the defendant's car." 5/11/23 at 37–38. Although the BWC footage showed Officer Strong approaching the car, looking inside, and saying, "It's a mag in here," the footage itself did not actually show a magazine inside the car. App'x A at 21:47:19–:22. Instead, to show where inside the car the magazine was located before the police

³ Mr. Miller is filing a contemporaneous motion to supplement the record with the government exhibits cited in this brief. Citations to "**:**:**" refer to the hour, minute, and second at which the events occurred, according to the BWC timestamp.

seized it, the government introduced as Government Exhibit 3 a photograph depicting a close-up view of the magazine wedged between the driver's seat and door frame, taken with the car door open. *See* App'x B (Gov. Ex. 3); 5/11/23 at 39. Although Officer Way testified that Exhibit 3 was "a fair and accurate representation of the magazine inside the defendant's car," 5/11/23 at 39, he could not say how it resembled or differed from what Officer Strong saw through the car window, as the photograph was taken from a different vantage point, with the car door open, and Officer Way had no "personal knowledge of what Officer Strong" saw through the car window, *id.* at 94–95. Indeed, as Officer Way acknowledged, two other officers (Officers Deloach and Smiley) had previously shined their flashlights through the car window and did not see the magazine inside the car. *Id.* at 91–94.

Similarly, although Officer Way testified at the suppression hearing that he could tell from the "little hole[s]" in the magazine that it was "fully loaded," *id.* at 41, he could not say what portions or features of the magazine were immediately apparent to Officer Strong when he saw it through the car window. As Officer Way conceded, at no point in the BWC footage did Officer Strong ever describe the magazine or comment on its size or capacity. *Id.* at 96.

At the close of the evidence, Mr. Miller argued that the government had failed to meet its burden to prove the requirements of the plain view exception. 5/12/23 at 5. Because the government had not called Officer Strong to testify about what he saw, Mr. Miller argued, the court had no factual basis to conclude that Officer Strong immediately recognized the magazine as contraband when he saw it in "plain view." *Id.* at 8–10; *see also id.* at 12 ("[T]here's nothing in the record that when he said, it's

a mag in here, that Officer Strong was even referring to something immediately apparent as contraband."); *id.* at 23 ("[H]e just says, it's a mag. He doesn't describe it at all."). Although the government argued that Exhibit 3 showed that the magazine was "very clearly loaded with at least 15 bullets" and thus "apparently contraband," *id.* at 21, Mr. Miller pointed out that "there's nothing in the record tha[t] what's in that picture is what Officer Strong was looking at," *id.* at 22.

The court denied Mr. Miller's suppression motion. The court explained that the BWC footage showing Officer Strong approaching the car, shining his flashlight into the car window, and saying, "it's a mag in there; I see it," provided evidence that Officer Strong indeed saw the magazine in "plain view" prior to opening the car door and seizing the magazine without a warrant. *Id.* at 33–35. The court noted that "it's not surprising that the two officers who looked before did not see it," given that the magazine was "wedged against the driver's seat and the door." *Id.* at 34.

Although the court concluded that the "incriminating . . . nature" of the magazine was "immediately apparent to Officer Strong," the court did not find that Officer Strong had any reason to believe that the magazine was a large capacity magazine or other type of contraband. *Id.* Instead, the court found only that "[f]rom the way that the magazine was positioned face up," as shown in Exhibit 3, "it was very clear that it was a gun magazine." *Id.* Based on that finding alone, the court ruled that the government had satisfied the requirements of the plain view exception. *Id.* at 34–35.

The Evidence at Trial

1. The Gun and 40-Round Magazine

Charles Stroud testified at trial that, on the night of October 28, 2022, he and his son Los Stroud were watching TV inside his house, located at 4010 9th Street Southeast, when they heard a crash outside. ⁴ 7/17/23 at 74–76. Los ran out to where his car had been parked in front of the house, and Charles ran behind him. *Id.* at 76–77. Los's car, a black Crown Victoria, had been "pushed up onto the curb" by Mr. Miller's silver Toyota. *Id.* at 77–78. Los, angry at the damage to his car, confronted Mr. Miller and claimed that Mr. Miller had a gun. *Id.* at 92–93, 116–17. Charles proceeded to use his cell phone to film a video of Mr. Miller inside his car. *Id.* at 79, 117–18. The video showed a woman standing behind Charles yelling and cursing at Mr. Miller, calling him a "bitch ass" and "the N word." *Id.* at 114. Charles likewise "cussed [Mr. Miller] out." *Id.* at 78.

Charles initially testified on direct examination that Mr. Miller reached for a gun in the center console of his car, "lifted the gun up," and "said he was going to shoot me," *id.* at 82–83, but he later conceded on cross-examination that Mr. Miller never pointed a gun at him or threatened to shoot him, and that he had lied to the police about Mr. Miller pointing a gun at him in order to back up his son's account, *id.* at 105–06. Likewise, although Los told police that Mr. Miller had pointed a gun

⁴ For clarity, this brief refers to the Strouds by their first names throughout.

⁵ Charles claimed that, when Mr. Miller reached for the gun and lifted it up, Charles stopped filming the video and asked if Mr. Miller was "trying to shoot [him]," to which Mr. Miller "said no." *Id.* at 78, 82, 118.

at him and threatened to "bust his ass," and that his father "got it all on camera," *id*. at 93–94, 97, 100, Charles admitted at trial that he never saw Mr. Miller point a gun at anyone, *id*. at 78, and that the video he filmed with his cell phone did not show Mr. Miller holding a gun or making any threats, *id*. at 103–05. When asked to describe the gun that he claimed to have seen Mr. Miller holding, Charles stated that it was black, *id*. at 83, but that he did not see an "extended magazine sticking out the bottom of that gun"—a feature that he "wouldn't have missed" because he was "familiar with guns" and had "held guns before," *id*. at 116.

Police arrived on the scene around 9:45 p.m. 7/18/23 at 161. By that point, a crowd of neighbors had gathered outside, and "everybody was like TV . . . a whole lot of screeching and everything, people running." 7/17/23 at 84. Officer Way testified at trial that, when he arrived on the scene, he saw Mr. Miller get out of his car, cross the street holding a backpack in his hands, and drop the backpack next to a red SUV. 7/18/23 at 27–29, 42. Although Officer Way could see Mr. Miller's hands as he crossed the street with the backpack, *id.* at 29, he "never saw Mr. Miller with a gun anywhere on his body that night," *id.* at 51–52. Nor did he see anything fall out of the backpack or hear anything hit the ground. *Id.* at 52–53. He also did not see Mr. Miller reach into the backpack, open or close the backpack, or reach underneath the red SUV. *Id.* at 53, 56.

After Mr. Miller dropped the backpack, he ran down 9th Street toward Bellevue Street. *Id.* at 32. Officer Way and two other officers chased Mr. Miller

⁶ Los was arrested after refusing to appear before the grand jury, and he did not testify at trial. *Id.* at 107.

around the corner, where he surrendered. *Id.* at 33. The officers handcuffed Mr. Miller and patted him down, finding nothing of interest. *Id.* at 85–86, 90. The officers also searched Mr. Miller's backpack, which was zipped closed, and discovered only "personal belongings, like a book of crossword puzzles." *Id.* at 55–56.

After arresting Mr. Miller, the police found a 9mm Glock handgun underneath the red SUV, hidden behind the front passenger wheel. 7/17/23 at 145–48; 7/18/23 at 89, 164–66. To see the gun, the officers had to crouch or kneel down and shine a flashlight underneath the car. 7/18/23 at 70–71, 163–65. Officer Way admitted that, while he and the other officers were chasing Mr. Miller, no officer was watching the red SUV, and that he did not know how the gun got underneath the red SUV. *Id.* at 65–66. Officer Way also testified that the area around the 4000 block of 9th Street Southeast is "known for having a high level of gun violence," that "people stash or hide guns," and that it is "not uncommon" for police to recover stashed guns in that area. *Id.* at 68–69, 76.

Crime scene analyst Edward Shymansky testified that the gun recovered from the scene was equipped with an "extended magazine" capable of holding 40 rounds of ammunition. 7/17/23 at 147, 161, 169–70.8 Mr. Shymansky explained that he could tell from "looking at [the magazine]" that it could hold "an extra large amount

⁷ Officer Way testified that a Glock is a common type of handgun, that 9mm is a common caliber of ammunition, and that every officer in the Metropolitan Police Department carries a 9mm Glock on duty. 7/18/23 at 89–90.

⁸ Mr. Shymansky noted that the last hole on the magazine was "labeled with the number 40," 7/17/23 at 161, and that he recovered 39 cartridges from the magazine and one cartridge from the chamber of the gun, *id.* at 169–70.

of ammunition" because it "protrude[d] past the grip of the firearm," *id.* at 147–48—a "very distinctive" feature of the gun that he noticed "right away," 7/18/23 at 13. Officer Way likewise testified that, when he first saw the gun underneath the red SUV, he immediately noticed its distinctively large extended magazine. *Id.* at 60, 71. The government did not ask Charles Stroud to identify this gun as the gun he claimed to have seen in Mr. Miller's car.

2. The 17-Round Magazine

Officer Strong testified that, when he arrived on the scene, he immediately approached the silver car involved in the crash. *Id.* at 161–62. When he shined a flashlight onto the driver's seat of the car, he saw a magazine wedged in between the driver's seat and the door frame. *Id.* at 162. The car door was unlocked, and no other contraband was found inside the car. *Id.* at 81–82, 173. Officer Strong and Officer Way both admitted that they did not know who placed the magazine in the car or how long it had been there. *Id.* at 80, 178. Officer Way further acknowledged that no officer was watching Mr. Miller's car while he and the other officers were chasing Mr. Miller down 9th Street. *Id.* at 82.

When asked whether he noticed "anything in particular about the magazine," Officer Strong testified that the magazine "appeared to be loaded" because he could see "[t]he shine of the bullets" from his flashlight. *Id.* at 162. Crime scene analyst

⁹ Although Charles Stroud claimed that the center console was open when he saw Mr. Miller reaching for a gun, 7/17/23 at 82, Officer Strong testified that the center console and all other storage compartments in the car were closed when he looked inside the car, 7/18/23 at 177–78.

Shymansky likewise testified that he could tell the magazine was loaded because he could see the cartridges "in the counts," meaning "the holes that are visible on the magazine." 7/17/23 at 153. ¹⁰ Mr. Shymansky further explained that, when processing the magazine at the scene, he unloaded the magazine and recovered 17 cartridges. *Id.* at 162. But in contrast to the police testimony about the distinctive appearance of the 40-round extended magazine in the gun, no witness testified that the 17-round magazine found in Mr. Miller's car appeared to be an extended magazine or that its capacity was obvious from its appearance. *Id.* at 153. A photograph of the magazine inside the car, introduced at trial as Government Exhibit 9 and included at App'x C, is reproduced below.



_

¹⁰ According to Mr. Shymansky, the magazine was a 9mm Glock magazine with a 17-round capacity. *Id.* at 152, 162.

3. The Forensic Evidence

On the morning of October 29, 2022, Officer Eric Hampton processed the gun and the two magazines for fingerprints and DNA, swabbing each item thoroughly "to collect as much DNA as possible." 7/19/23 at 11, 19. Mr. Miller's fingerprints were not on any of the items. *Id.* at 20. Although Officer Hampton conceded that loading ammunition into a magazine could leave behind fingerprints and DNA on the bullets, he made no attempt to recover fingerprints or DNA from the ammunition in either magazine. *Id.* at 21–22.

Forensic DNA analyst Ruben Ramos explained the process of DNA testing and analysis, including the factors that affect how much DNA an individual might leave behind on an item. *Id.* at 44–45. He explained, for example, that a person is more likely to leave DNA on an item if they are "holding [it] for a long time and gripping it very hard." *Id.* at 45–46.

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