#### BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

# DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_

No. 23-CF-828

ANDRE MILLER,

Appellant,

Received 10/16/2024 03:36 PM

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES

United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB JOHN P. MANNARINO MEGAN MCFADDEN

- \* KATHERINE M. KELLY
  D.C. Bar #447112
  Assistant United States Attorneys
- \* Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Katherine.Kelly@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2022-CF3-6440

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Miller lacks standing to raise a Fourth Amendment challenge to the seizure of the loaded magazine found in his car, because he abandoned the car and its contents. In any event, the plain-view doctrine supports the seizure.

Miller's claim that insufficient evidence underlies his PLCFD conviction lacks merit. Even though *Bruce v. United States*, 305 A.3d 381 (D.C. 2023), in which this Court first held that a PLCFD conviction required the government to prove that the defendant knew the magazine at issue could hold more than 10 rounds of ammunition, was decided after Miller's trial, sufficient circumstantial evidence was presented at Miller's trial to satisfy this new element. Even if the evidence here is now insufficient in light of *Bruce's* post-trial change to the PLCFD elements, the proper remedy is not to direct an acquittal, but to vacate the conviction and remand for a retrial of the PLCFD count.

The trial court's jury instruction on the elements of PLCFD, which did not inform the jury that it was required to determine whether Miller knew that the magazine in his car could hold more than 10 rounds of ammunition, does not require reversal of his PLCFD conviction under the plain-error standard.

Fourth, Miller's undisputed felon status precludes him from challenging the constitutionality of the PLCFD statute. Even if Miller is not disqualified from

bringing that challenge, his claim that the PLCFD statute violates the Second Amendment lacks merit.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. The Trial Court Properly Denied the Motion to Suppress the Magazine Found in Miller's Car.

Miller claims (at 20-26) that the trial court erred in finding that the plain-view doctrine justified the seizure of the magazine found in his car because there was no evidence that its "illegal capacity" was "immediately apparent" to the police officer who discovered it. This claim lacks merit.

## A. Standard of Review and Legal Principles

In reviewing a suppression-motion ruling, this Court reviews legal issues de novo. *Mayo v. United States*, 315 A.3d 606, 616 (D.C. 2024). This Court defers to the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous, *id.*, and "review[s] the facts and reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the prevailing party." *Hooks v. United States*, 208 A.3d 741, 745 (D.C. 2019). This Court gives "considerable deference to the fact-finder's ability to weigh the evidence, determine witness credibility and draw reasonable inferences." *Griffin v. United States*, 850 A.2d 313, 315 (D.C. 2004). This Court also gives "due weight" to inferences drawn from the historical facts "by local law enforcement officers." (*Jermal E.*) *Johnson v. United States*, 253 A.3d 1050, 1056 (D.C. 2021). This Court

will reverse only where the motions judge reached legal conclusions contrary to existing law or made factual findings unsupported by the evidence. *See United States* v. *White*, 689 A.2d 535, 537-38 (D.C. 1997).

This Court may affirm the denial of a suppression motion on grounds other than those articulated by the trial court. *Harris v. United States*, 260 A.3d 663, 684 (D.C. 2021). In the absence of express findings on an issue, this Court determines whether a suppression-motion denial is supportable under any reasonable view of the evidence. *Brooks v. United States*, 367 A.2d 1297, 1304 (D.C. 1976), *cited in Peay v. United States*, 597 A.2d 1318, 1320 (D.C. 1991) (en banc). Furthermore, in deciding whether suppression motion has been properly denied, this Court may consider undisputed trial testimony. *(Thomas) West v. United States*, 604 A.2d 422, 427 (D.C. 1992).

The plain-view doctrine permits the warrantless seizure of evidence in plain sight when: (1) "an officer did not violate the Fourth Amendment in arriving at the place from which the evidence could be plainly viewed"; (2) the incriminating character of the evidence was "immediately apparent"; and (3) the officer had "a lawful right of access to the object itself." *Porter v. United States*, 37 A.3d 251, 256 (D.C. 2012). In determining whether a search or seizure was legal, this Court "may determine the facts available to the officer on the basis of police officers' collective knowledge, e.g., the facts available to other officers on the scene as well as those

facts known to the officer who performed the search or seizure in question." *Germany v. United States*, 984 A.2d 1217, 1222 n.6 (D.C. 2009).

#### B. Discussion

## 1. Miller Lacks Standing to Challenge the Seizure of the Magazine Found in His Car.

When "an individual abandons property, the person no longer has a legitimate expectation of privacy in it and thus lacks standing to challenge its search or seizure." Spriggs v. United States, 618 A.2d 701, 703 n.3 (D.C. 1992). Here, as the government argued in the trial court, and showed by a preponderance of the evidence, <sup>22</sup> Miller abandoned his car and its contents, including the magazine, by fleeing the scene of the car crash. See, e.g., State v. Montiel-Devale, 468 P.3d 995, 998-99, 1002-03 (Or. Ct. App. 2020) (where occupants of damaged car involved in crash on public street "took off on foot," defendant driver to whom car was registered had no reasonable expectation of privacy in car, even if he subjectively expected, or hoped, car "might remain undisturbed until and unless he saw fit to return for it"); Mills v. United States, 708 A.2d 1003, 1008 (D.C. 1997) (defendant abandoned car merely by "respond[ing] negatively" when police officer asked him "whether or not [the white Mustang] was his car"); Spriggs, 618 A.2d at 702-03 (defendant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> See Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431, 444 n.5 (1984) ("[T]he controlling burden of proof at suppression hearings should impose no greater burden than proof by a preponderance of the evidence.").

abandoned for Fourth Amendment purposes an opaque key case filled with valuable drugs when, as officers approached her, she placed key case on curb of public sidewalk and walked four to seven feet away from it).<sup>23</sup>

The fact that the driver's door and window of Miller's car were closed when Officer Strong looked into the car does not undercut that the car and its contents had been abandoned for Fourth Amendment purposes. *See, e.g., Kyle,* 268 A.3d at 1264 (fact that backpack defendant threw over fence was closed and thus was not an obviously incriminating item was relevant, but insufficient, factor in assessing whether he had objectively reasonable privacy interest in backpack). Indeed, at trial defense counsel elicited from Officer Strong that Miller's car doors were unlocked, and the keys were in the back of the car (7/18/23 Tr. 175). This showed that he had no objectively reasonable privacy right in the car when he left it in the middle of the road. *See, e.g., State v. Anderson,* 548 N.W.2d 40, 44 (S.D. 1996) (car deemed abandoned when driver fled accident scene on foot, leaving disabled car on public road with keys in it); *People v. Childs,* 589 N.E. 2d 819, 820-22 (Ill. App. Ct. 1992)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Abandonment for Fourth Amendment purposes is not the same as abandonment "in the strict property-right sense," because it is possible to retain a property interest in an item, yet simultaneously relinquish "any reasonable expectation of privacy for purposes of obtaining suppression." *United States v. Kyle*, 268 A.3d 1256, 1259 (D.C. 2022) (citations omitted).

(affirming that driver defendant abandoned car during traffic stop when he walked away from car, and then ran from police officer, leaving ignition key inside).

# 2. In Any Event, the Plain-View Doctrine Justified the Seizure of the Magazine.

Miller claims that the plain-view doctrine could not justify the magazine's seizure because without direct evidence that Officer Strong could see that the magazine could hold more than 10 rounds of ammunition, there was insufficient evidence that the illegal nature of the magazine was immediately apparent. This claim lacks merit.

"The plain view doctrine authorizes seizure of illegal or evidentiary items visible to a police officer whose access to the object has some prior Fourth Amendment justification and who has probable cause to suspect that the item is connected with criminal activity." *Illinois v. Andreas*, 463 U.S. 765, 771 (1983). Miller inaccurately contends that the plain-view doctrine supported seizure of the magazine only if Officer Strong immediately realized that it was an LCM, and thus that it was an illegal item.

As the suppression-hearing evidence established, Officer Way went to the 4000 block of 9th Street based on radio calls to respond to a "traffic crash" and to "a man with a gun" (5/11/23 Tr. 19-21). As he arrived, Officer Way saw Miller—who was the sole occupant of a silver Camry that appeared to have been in a crash—exit

that vehicle (*id.* 20-23, 36). Miller crossed the street, holding a backpack; he crouched down and dropped his backpack at the passenger side of a parked red SUV; and he then fled up 9th Street (*id.* 21-25, 27-28, 31, 68). When Officer Way exited his cruiser, a woman in the middle of the street pointed at Miller and yelled, "he's got a gun, he's got a gun" (*id.* 21, 60-61, 118-19).

Thereafter, when Officer Strong shined his flashlight into Miller's car, he saw a magazine in plain view inside and announced that there was a "mag" in the car (5/11/23 Tr. 35-38). Officer Strong's BWC footage showed that he stood next to the driver's door of the car and shined his flashlight into the driver's area of the car and downward toward the driver's seat, including on the driver's door side and then said, "it's a mag in here; it's a mag in here; I see it" (*id.* 131-33; 5/12/23 Tr. 28, 40; GE12). Officer Way testified that the magazine was a loaded magazine "for a Glock 17, 9-millimeter" (5/11/23 Tr. 38, 96).

Additionally, at trial, Officer Way agreed with defense counsel's statement that "the magazine was found just sitting in open view or plain view" (7/18/23 Tr. 81). Officer Strong added to the trial testimony regarding this magazine, stating that upon arriving on the scene, he went to the silver crashed vehicle, stood at the front driver's side door, and shined his flashlight inside (*id.* 161-62). He pointed his flashlight down toward the driver's seat and saw a magazine between the driver's seat and the door frame (*id.* 162). On cross-examination, defense counsel elicited

from Officer Strong that the magazine was in plain view between the driver's seat and door and that he was able to see the magazine right after he started looking through Miller's car window (*id.* 173). Moreover, as Officer Strong testified, the magazine appeared to be loaded; he could see that there were bullets inside it because of "[t]he shine of the bullets" (*id.* 162).

Accordingly, regardless of the magazine's capacity, Officer Strong had probable cause to believe that the magazine and ammunition were unlawfully possessed by Miller and thus could seize them. See, e.g., Zanders v. United States, 75 A.3d 244, 247-49 (D.C. 2013) (finding probable cause when an officer observed in plain view an "ammunition clip of a gun protruding from under the front passenger seat" of a car; officer lawfully positioned outside vehicle "who sees a gun (or other contraband) in plain view inside that vehicle has probable cause to seize it"); Andrews v. United States, 922 A.2d 449, 454, 457 n.13 (D.C. 2007) (once officer saw in plain view black ammunition magazine protruding beneath driver's seat on floorboard of car, the police had probable cause to seize and search the car); (Larry) White v. United States, 763 A.2d 715, 721-22 (D.C. 2000) (officer who used flashlight to illuminate inside of car and saw gun in plain view on driver's floorboard, shortly after driver was removed from car, had probable cause to seize gun as contraband). This is particularly true given that upon arriving on the scene, Officer Way had seen Miller immediately exit his car, and ultimately flee the scene

after placing his backpack next to the red SUV. See Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 124 (2000) ("[h]eadlong flight—wherever it occurs—is the consummate act of evasion: It is not necessarily indicative of wrongdoing, but it is certainly suggestive of such."). And the presence of a loaded magazine lying next to the driver's seat in the passenger compartment of the car violated District of Columbia law regarding the proper transport of ammunition and firearms. See D.C. Code § 22-4504.02(a)-(b); see also 24 D.C.M.R. §§ 2320.9-2320.10; Ward v. United States, 318 A.3d 520, 528 (D.C. 2024) (prohibiting transport of firearms and ammunition in manner readily or directly accessible from passenger compartment of transporting vehicle). This improper manner of transporting the loaded magazine provided additional reason for the police to believe that Miller did not lawfully possess the ammunition and magazine.

Furthermore, the evidentiary value of the magazine was immediately apparent regardless of whether it was an LCM, and thus it was not necessary that Officer Strong immediately realized that it was an LCM. In this situation, the police were responding to a call for a man with a gun, and a woman on the scene when Officer Way arrived immediately pointed at Miller and yelled that he had a gun, and Miller fled after crouching and dropping his backpack alongside a parked SUV. See supra at pp. 9-10. The magazine in Miller's car provided evidentiary support for the reports that Miller was armed with a gun, and thus, its evidentiary value was immediately

apparent, which satisfied the requirement of the plain-view doctrine. *Andreas*, 463 U.S. at 771.

Additionally, the trial evidence supported the reasonable inference that Officer Strong could immediately see that the magazine had a capacity of more than 10 rounds. As Officer Strong testified, the magazine appeared to be loaded; he could see that there were bullets inside it because of "[t]he shine of the bullets" (7/18/23 Tr. 162). Officer Strong, who did not touch the magazine after discovering it, testified that when he shined his flashlight inside Miller's car, the magazine appeared to him as it did in trial exhibit GE9 (id. 162-63). GE9, which was the same photo presented as GE3 at the suppression hearing, displayed the magazine as Crime Scene Analyst Shymansky observed it between the driver's seat and door frame of Miller's car (7/17/23 Tr. 139, 151-52). It showed that the side of the magazine with the holes through which the ammunition was visible was facing upward in a position that could be viewed by the driver, as well as by Officer Strong (GE9). The photo depicted more than 10 cartridges that were visible through those holes and an additional cartridge obviously protruding from the top of the magazine (id.). Thus, it is reasonable to infer that Officer Strong could see that the magazine was an LCM immediately upon discovering it.

### **II.** Sufficient Evidence Supports the PLCFD Conviction.

Miller does not dispute that at the time of trial, the evidence was sufficient to prove PLCFD. Instead, Miller claims (at 26-34) only that the evidence was insufficient to prove that he knew the magazine in his car was an LCM, as required by this Court's subsequent ruling in *Bruce v. United States*, 305 A.3d 381 (D.C. 2023). This claim lacks merit.

### A. Additional Background

As Miller acknowledges (at 26-27 & n.17), at the time of his trial, this Court had not yet held that to convict a defendant for violating the PLCFD statute, the government was required to prove that the defendant knew the magazine could hold more than 10 rounds of ammunition. This Court so held for the first time in *Bruce v. United States*, 305 A.3d 381 (D.C. 2023), months after Miller's trial. Thus, consistent with the then-prevailing interpretation of the PLCFD statute, as reflected in the standard jury instruction for PLCFD (to which Miller did not object), the court instructed that the government was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Miller: (1) "possessed a large capacity ammunition feeding device"; and (2) "he did so voluntarily and on purpose and not by mistake or accident" (7/19/23 Tr. 175). *See* Criminal Jury Instructions for the District of Columbia, No. 6.505(B) (5th ed. 2022). The jury was not instructed that to convict Miller of PLCFD, the government needed

to prove that he knew the magazine in his car had an ammunition capacity of more than 10 rounds.

### B. Standard of Review and Legal Principles

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